COA No. 48056-5-II

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON
DIVISION TWO

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

v.

SANDRA WELLER,

Appellant.

ON APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT
OF CLARK COUNTY

APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF

OLIVER R. DAVIS
Attorney for Appellant

WASHINGTON APPELLATE PROJECT
1511 Third Avenue, Suite 701
Seattle, Washington 98101
(206) 587-2711

A. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

1. At re-sentencing following appeal, the trial court violated Sandra Weller's Sixth and Fourteenth Amendment rights to a jury trial by imposing an exceptional sentence based on judicial fact finding.

2. The court infringed Ms. Weller's Fourteenth Amendment right to proof beyond a reasonable doubt of aggravating factors by imposing an exceptional sentence based on judicial fact finding.

3. In the absence of a jury finding beyond a reasonable doubt, the trial court erred in entering exceptional sentence Finding of Fact No. 2.

4. The court erred in entering Finding of Fact No. 3.

5. The court erred in entering Finding of Fact No. 4.

6. The court erred in entering Finding of Fact No. 5.

7. The court erred in entering Finding of Fact No. 6.

8. The court erred in entering Finding of Fact No. 7.

9. The court erred in entering Finding of Fact No. 8.

10. The court erred in entering Finding of Fact No. 9.

11. The court erred in entering Finding of Fact No. 10.

12. The court erred in entering Finding of Fact No. 11.

13. The court erred in entering Finding of Fact No. 12.

14. The court erred in entering Finding of Fact No. 13.

15. The court erred in entering Finding of Fact No. 14.

16. The court erred in entering Finding of Fact No. 15.

17. The court erred in entering Finding of Fact No. 16.

18. The court erred in entering Finding of Fact No. 17.

19. The sentencing court erred in imposing a no-contact order of 45 years.

20. The sentencing court was required to but failed to provide Sandra Weller with an appropriately redacted copy of the materials furnished to her attorney as part of the discovery in the case.

21. The trial court erred in denying Ms. Weller's motion for new counsel where the court failed to adequately inquire whether there had been a breakdown in communication.

B. ISSUES PERTAINING TO ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

1. A sentencing court may not rely on judicial fact finding to impose an exceptional sentence. Here, the sentencing court imposed an exceptional sentence on Sandra Weller based in part on judicial fact finding. Did the court infringe Ms. Weller's Sixth and Fourteenth Amendment rights to a jury trial and to proof beyond a reasonable doubt by imposing an exceptional sentence based in part on judicial fact finding?

2. Did the sentencing court exceed its authority by imposing a no-contact order regarding the complainants of 45 years, which exceeded the 10 year maximum penalty for the second degree assault, a class B felony, and the exceptional sentence term of 240 months years?

3. Criminal Court Rule (CrR) 4.7(h)(3) requires defense counsel to maintain exclusive custody of discovery materials, but permits counsel to provide an appropriately redacted copy to the defendant. Should the trial court have allowed defense counsel to

provide his client an appropriately redacted copy of the police reports?

4. New counsel is required where there has been a complete breakdown in communication, and the court must inquire thoroughly to determine the matter. Did the trial court abuse its discretion in denying new counsel?

C. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Following a jury trial, Sandra Weller was convicted of four counts of second degree assault and one count unlawful imprisonment, involving alleged accomplice liability in encouraging physical abuse of her children by her husband Jeffrey Weller. CP 33. Following trial, the court imposed an exceptional sentence of 240 months based on two aggravating factors found by the jury -- deliberate cruelty and an ongoing pattern of abuse. CP 33.

Ms. Weller appealed, and the Court of Appeals invalidated the exceptional sentence, finding the “ongoing pattern” aggravating factor inapplicable. State v. Sandra Weller, 185 Wn.

App. 913, 344 P.3d 695 (2015), petition for review denied, 183 Wn.2d 1010 (2015). The appellate court remanded the case for resentencing, and the trial court entered an order vacating the original sentence. CP 72.

At the commencement of the re-sentencing hearing, Ms. Weller sought new counsel, explaining that she had been unable to communicate with her lawyer, who had been appointed for purposes of the re-sentencing. 8/27/15RP at 3-5. The court concluded that current counsel would remain Ms. Weller's attorney. 8/27/15RP at 6-7.

At the hearing which commenced on August 27 and then continued on September 17 of 2015, the trial court learned from Ms. Weller of her significant rehabilitation in prison including her accomplishments in various classes, and in obtaining positions of responsibility at Washington Corrections Center for Women. 8/27/15RP at 14-16. Ms. Weller also expressed her regret over the incidents leading to the charges. 8/27/15RP at 17-18.

Despite this substantial documented progress and the absence of one of the only two aggravating factors that supported the original sentence, however, the court imposed the same length of exceptional sentence of 240 months as it had in 2013.

8/27/15RP at 21-22; CP 74. The court stated it was relying solely on the remaining jury-found aggravating factor; however, as the sentencing court had done at the previous sentencing, the court supplemented the jury's special verdict with further factual findings from the bench. 8/27/15RP at 20-22; 9/17/15RP at 25-26; CP 74, 87-89. The findings were described as being founded on certain evidence introduced at trial. CP 87, CP 89. The court found, and entered a conclusion of law to the same effect, that an exceptional sentence based on deliberate cruelty was supported by the evidence "admitted at trial and outlined by the trial judge at sentencing." CP 74, CP 89 (Judgment and sentence, including Findings of Fact No. 17 and Conclusion of Law No. 1 in support of exceptional sentence) (Judgment attached as Appendix A).

In addition, the sentencing court entered no-contact orders regarding the two complainants of 45 years, a term which exceeded the 10 year maximum penalty for second degree assault, a class B felony, and which also exceeded the exceptional sentence term of 240 months. 8/27/15RP at 21-22, 9/17/15RP at 27-29.

In further proceedings, counsel for Ms. Weller notified the trial court that she desired a copy of her police reports and other discovery, citing CrR 4.7. 9/17/15RP at 31-35. The prosecutor objected. 9/17/15RP at 34-35. The court denied the request to allow counsel to provide his client with a copy of the discovery, stating:

At this point I'll deny it as a matter for the trial court. If there is something in the way of a further appeal, then it would be up to the Court of Appeals whether they would grant any records or transcripts in connection with it.

9/17/15RP at 35.

Ms. Weller timely filed a notice of appeal. CP 90.

D. ARGUMENT

I. THE TRIAL COURT INFRINGED MS. WELLER'S SIXTH AND FOURTEENTH AMENDMENT RIGHTS TO A JURY DETERMINATION OF ALL FACTS SUPPORTING HER EXCEPTIONAL SENTENCE.

(a). The court may rely only on facts proved to a jury to impose an exceptional sentence. Any fact that increases the penalty for a crime must be submitted to a jury and proved beyond a reasonable doubt. U.S. Const. Amends. 6, 14; Wash. Const. art. I, §§ 21, 22; Apprendi v. New Jersey, 530 U.S. 466, 476, 120 S.Ct. 2348, 147 L.Ed.2d 435 (2000); Blakely v. Washington, 542 U.S. 296, 303, 124 S.Ct. 2531, 159 L.Ed.2d 403 (2004). Imposition of an enhanced sentence based on judicial fact finding violates an accused person's right to Due Process and to a jury trial. Blakely, 542 U.S. at 303; Alleyne v. United States, ___ U.S. ___, 133 S.Ct. 2151, 186 L.Ed.2d 314 (2013).

Blakely errors may be raised for the first time on review. RAP 2.5(a)(3); see State v. O'Connell, 137 Wn. App. 81, 89, 152 P.3d 349 (2007).

Here, the trial court supplemented the jury's special verdicts following trial, with numerous additional factual findings. CP 74 (with Findings of Fact (Findings attached as Appendix B)). As noted, the trial court specifically relied on its assessment of trial evidence to support the exceptional sentence. CP 74, CP 89.

But a court may not impose an exceptional sentence based on judicial fact finding. Blakely, 542 U.S. at 303. The sentence imposed below violated Ms. Weller's right to a jury determination beyond a reasonable doubt of the facts listed in the trial court's findings. Id.

Importantly, although this Court of Appeals previously addressed this argument in a footnote, State v. Weller, 185 Wn. App. at 928 n. 11, RAP 2.5(c)(2) permits the Court to review its earlier decision. Review is appropriate here in the interests of justice. First, the trial court conducted a new sentencing hearing and imposed a new sentence. The entire sentence is therefore

subject to appeal. See, e.g., State v. Toney, 149 Wn. App. 787, 792, 205 P.3d 944 (2009).

Second, the Court of Appeals' prior decision on this issue is *dicta*. See Gabelein v. Diking Dist. No. 1 of Island Cty. of State, 182 Wn. App. 217, 239, 328 P.3d 1008 (2014) (defining *dicta*). Having reversed one aggravating factor, sustained the second, and remanded the case for a new sentencing hearing, the appellate court had no need to address the trial court's factual findings at sentencing or Ms. Weller's argument that these were improper bases for the sentence, since the lower court was free to adopt new findings (or no findings at all) upon resentencing.

Third, the Court of Appeals' prior decision reflected an incomplete understanding of the trial court's findings. The trial court's factual findings explicitly served two purposes. It is true that the trial judge "properly was evaluating the evidence supporting the jury's findings before imposing the exceptional sentences." Weller, 185 Wn. App. at 928 n. 11. This can be seen in Findings Nos. 16 and 17 wherein the court reasoned that the

exceptional sentence based on deliberate cruelty was supported by the evidence admitted at trial and outlined by the trial judge at sentencing. CP 74, CP 89 (Judgment and sentence, including Findings of Fact Nos. 16 and 17 and Conclusion of Law No. 1 in support of exceptional sentence). This Court of Appeals' prior decision did not address this aspect of the trial court's findings. Accordingly, the issue should be revisited in this appeal, notwithstanding the prior decision. RAP 2.5(c)(2).

(b). The sentence must be vacated. The trial court's factual findings must be vacated. Blakely, 542 U.S. at 303. Ms. Weller's exceptional sentence must be reversed and the case remanded for a new sentencing hearing. Id.

2. MS. WELLER IS ENTITLED TO AN APPROPRIATELY REDACTED COPY OF “[A]NY MATERIALS FURNISHED TO [HER] ATTORNEY” AS PART OF THE DISCOVERY IN THIS CASE.

Court rules are interpreted in the same manner as statutes, using the tools of statutory construction. State v. Hawkins, 181 Wn.2d 170, 183, 332 P.3d 408 (2014), as amended (Sept. 30, 2014), reconsideration denied, (Oct. 1, 2014). The court's objective is to

determine and give effect to the intent of the rule, as expressed in the rule’s plain language. State v. Larson, No. 91457-5, 2015 WL 9460073, at *2 (Wash. Dec. 24, 2015).

The use of the word “shall” is presumptively imperative. State v. Peeler, 183 Wn.2d 169, 185 n. 9, 349 P.3d 842 (2015).

Under the criminal discovery rules,

a defense attorney shall be permitted to provide a copy of [discovery] materials to the defendant after making appropriate redactions which are approved by the prosecuting authority or order of the court.

(CrR 4.7(h)(3)). The rule’s use of the word “shall” emphasizes the mandatory nature of this provision. See Eubanks v. Brown, 180 Wn.2d 590, 596 n. 1, 327 P.3d 635 (2014).

The rule does not impose any restrictions on the timeframe when discovery material may be provided. Here, when defense counsel sought permission to provide a copy of the police reports to his client, the prosecutor objected. 9/17/15RP at 34-35. But the plain language of the rule does not permit the prosecution to thwart counsel’s efforts to provide a copy of discovery. CrR 4.7(h)(3). Instead, the prosecution must either approve

appropriate redactions or submit the issue to the court. CrR 4.7(h)(3).

The trial court should therefore not have declined Ms. Weller's request. CrR 4.7. This Court of Appeals should reverse the trial court's decision and remand the case to permit defense counsel to provide his client with a copy of the discovery, including any police reports. If defense counsel and the prosecutor cannot agree on appropriate redactions, the issue must be submitted to the court for an order under CrR 4.7(h)(3).

3. THE NO-CONTACT ORDERS EXCEEDED THE COURT'S AUTHORITY.

Here, although the court ordered that the sentences for second degree assault and unlawful imprisonment be served consecutively as an exceptional sentence of 240 months, Ms. Weller argues that the court exceeded its statutory authority in two ways under the Sentencing Reform Act (SRA), chapter 9.94A RCW, by imposing a no-contact order of 45 years that exceeded the 10 year maximum penalty for second degree assault, a class B felony. 8/27/15RP at 21-22, 9/17/15RP at 27-29; Supp. CP ____

(Sub # 136) (post-conviction no-contact order, 9/17/16); see RCW 9A.36.021(2)(a).

Under RCW 9.94A.505(8), a trial court may impose a no-contact order for the maximum term of a conviction. State v. Armendariz, 160 Wn.2d 106, 112, 120, 156 P.3d 201 (2007); see also State v. Navarro, 188 Wn. App. 550, 556, 354 P.3d 22 (2015), review denied, 184 Wn. 2d 1031, 364 P.3d 119 (2016).

Ms. Weller objected below by asking the court to "bifurcate" the no-contact period. 8/27/15RP at 26. In any event, a defendant does not waive a challenge to the legality of sentencing conditions by failing to object. State v. Armstrong, 91 Wn. App. 635, 638, 959 P.2d 1128 (1998).

A trial court's sentencing authority is limited to that expressly found in the statutes. In re Postsentence Review of Leach, 161 Wn.2d 180, 184, 163 P.3d 782 (2007). A court abuses its discretion if, when imposing a crime-related prohibition, it applies the wrong legal standard. State v. Lord, 161 Wn.2d 276, 284, 165 P.3d 1251 (2007). RCW 9.94A.505(8) permits a court to

enforce crime-related prohibitions as part of any sentence. A “crime-related prohibition” is a court order “prohibiting conduct that directly relates to the circumstances of the crime for which the offender has been convicted.” RCW 9.94A.030(10). A no-contact order is a crime-related prohibition. In re Pers. Restraint of Rainey, 168 Wn.2d 367, 376, 229 P.3d 686 (2010). The statutory maximum for Ms Weller's most serious crime of second degree assault, as a class B felony, is 10 years. RCW 9A.20.021(1)(b). Therefore, the maximum operative length of a no-contact order imposed pursuant to RCW 9.94A.505(8) is 10 years in the instant case. Rainey, 168 Wn.2d at 375 (noting that the maximum operative length of a no-contact order is the statutory maximum for the defendant's crime). With regard to an exceptional sentence, the trial court does not have authority to impose a non-contact order that exceeds the maximum sentence imposed. State v. France, 176 Wn. App. 463, 474, 308 P.3d 812 (2013), review denied, 179 Wn.2d 2015, 318 P.3d 280 (2014). RCW 10.99.050 does not grant the sentencing court the power to

prohibit contact greater than the power that exists under RCW 9.94A.505(8). Instead, RCW 10.99.050 provides, “When a defendant is found guilty of a crime and a condition of the sentence restricts the defendant's ability to have contact with the victim, such condition shall be recorded and a written certified copy of that order shall be provided to the victim.”

Ms. Weller asks that this Court reverse and vacate her judgment and sentence.

4. THE TRIAL COURT FAILED TO INQUIRE INTO BREAKDOWN AND ABUSED ITS DISCRETION IN DENYING MS. WELLER'S REQUEST FOR NEW COUNSEL FOR SENTENCING.

A trial court's determination of whether a defendant's dissatisfaction with court appointed counsel warrants appointment of substitute counsel is discretionary, but will be overturned on appeal in the event of an abuse of discretion. State v. Rosborough, 62 Wn. App. 341, 346, 814 P.2d 679, review denied, 118 Wn.2d 1003, 822 P.2d 287 (1991). A defendant does not have an absolute right to choose any particular advocate but the Sixth Amendment does protect the right to adequate counsel.

State v. Stenson, 132 Wn.2d 668, 733, 940 P.2d 1239 (1997) (citing State v. DeWeese, 117 Wn.2d 369, 375–76, 816 P.2d 1 (1991)), cert. denied, 523 U.S. 1008 (1998); U.S. Const. amend. 6. The defendant can justify appointment of new counsel, where she shows good cause to warrant substitution of counsel, such as a conflict of interest, an irreconcilable conflict, or a complete breakdown in communication between the attorney and the defendant. State v. Varga, 151 Wn.2d 179, 200, 86 P.3d 139 (2004) (citing Stenson, 132 Wn.2d at 734).

Here, the trial court denied Ms. Weller’s request for new sentencing counsel, in which she explained to the trial court that she had been unable to effectively communicate with her present counsel for purposes of determining the defense position to be presented at the hearing, and he had repeatedly screamed at her and stated he did not wish to represent her. 8/27/15RP at 5-7.

The trial court was not amenable to the prosecutor’s suggestion that the court conduct further inquiry, into breakdown. 8/27/15RP at 6-7. The court relied on present

counsel's statements that the relationship was adequate and that he had prepared for the hearing. 8/27/15RP at 3-6.

Notably, to advocate for a lower sentence, Ms. Weller had to detail her own rehabilitation efforts and admirable conduct while in prison; no report or pre-sentencing memorandum was prepared by counsel. 8/27/15RP at 14-18. Defense counsel merely, and briefly, urged the court to consider reducing the previous sentence by half, based on the remaining aggravating factor. 8/27/15RP at 14.

The court's denial of new counsel was error. In determining whether a motion to discharge and substitute counsel was properly denied, a reviewing court will examine (1) the extent of the conflict, (2) the adequacy of the inquiry, and (3) the timeliness of the motion. In re Pers. Restraint of Stenson (Stenson 2), 142 Wn.2d 710, 723–24, 16 P.3d 1 (2001) (citing United States v. Moore, 159 F.3d 1154, 1158 n. 3 (9th Cir.1998)). Consistent with Moore, a trial court should conduct a thorough examination of the defendant's allegations in order to decide

whether different counsel must be appointed. See State v. Dougherty, 33 Wn. App. 466, 471, 655 P.2d 1187 (1982), review denied, 99 Wn.2d 1023 (1983) (trial counsel motion).

Ms. Weller's grave concerns indicated that hers was not a mere claim that she had lost confidence in her counsel, which is an insufficient reason to justify appointing new counsel. See Varga, 151 Wn.2d at 200. The apparent breakdown required a more penetrating inquiry by the trial court before denying Ms. Weller's motion. This Court should reverse the sentence and remand for re-sentencing.

E. CONCLUSION AND APPELLATE COSTS PRAYER

Based on the foregoing, Sandra Weller argues that this Court of Appeals should reverse her judgment and sentence. Further, no appellate costs should be deemed warranted in the event Ms. Weller does not substantially prevail herein under RAP 14. See State v. Sinclair, (Wash. App. Div. 2) 2016 WL 393719, *4 (2016). Ms. Weller was indigent and entitled to court-appointed counsel at trial, and on appeal (Washington Appellate

Project). See Statement of Arrangements (November 2, 2015) and Appointment of indigent appellate counsel (October 1, 2016) in Court of Appeals Case no. 48056-5-II; see also Supp. CP ____, Sub # 144 (order of indigency in trial court) (attached as Appendix C). Ms. Weller was indigent and had no future earning capacity because of her reported disability; the trial court assessed her indigence as meriting waiver of all non-mandatory trial costs. See State v. Blazina, 182 Wn.2d 827, 838, 344 P.3d 680 (2015). If Ms. Weller's sentence is not reversed or modified such that she does not substantially prevail, she lacks the ability to pay. This Court should deny any request that Ms. Weller pay costs of the appeal.