NO. 48056-5-II – Consolidated Appeal

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON
DIVISION II

STATE OF WASHINGTON, Respondent

v.

SANDRA D. WELLER AND JEFFREY WAYNE WELLER, Appellants

FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT FOR CLARK COUNTY
CLARK COUNTY SUPERIOR COURT CAUSE NO.11-1-01678-1

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

Attorneys for Respondent:

ANTHONY F. GOLIK
Prosecuting Attorney
Clark County, Washington

ANNE M. CRUSER, WSBA #27944
Senior Deputy Prosecuting Attorney
OID No. 91127

Clark County Prosecuting Attorney
1013 Franklin Street
PO Box 5000
Vancouver WA 98666-5000
Telephone (360) 397-2261

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

A trial court has the authority to impose crime-related prohibitions as conditions of sentence. RCW 9.94A.505(9). A no-contact order is one such crime-related prohibition. *In re Pers. Restraint of Rainey*, 168 Wn.2d 367, 376, 229 P.3d 686 (2010); *State v. Armendariz*, 160 Wn.2d 106, 113, 156 P.3d 201 (2007); *State v. Warren*, 165 Wn.2d 17, 33, 195 P.3d 940 (2008). When a trial court restricts a defendant's ability to contact a victim as a condition of sentence, that condition must be reduced to a written order. RCW 10.99.050(1). Generally, a crime-related prohibition may not be for a period of time longer than the statutory maximum sentence for that crime. *State v. Warren*, 165 Wn.2d at 32. The Wellers argue that the

no-contact order imposed in their cases cannot be imposed for a period longer than ten years, because the highest class of crime for which they were convicted was a class B felony with a statutory maximum punishment of ten years. However, trial courts have the authority to impose exceptional sentences under certain circumstances. RCW 9.94A.535. In the Wellers' case, the jury found an aggravating factor of deliberate cruelty to the victims. The trial court then found this aggravating factor warranted a sentence above the standard range and imposed an exceptional sentence. S.W. CP 87-89; J.W. CP 17-19. The exceptional duration of the no-contact order was proper.

Exceptional sentences may include exceptional community supervision conditions and community placement terms. *State v. Hudnall*, 116 Wn.App. 190, 64 P.3d 687 (2003). In *State v. Bernhard*, 108 Wn.2d 527, 741 P.2d 1 (1987), *overruled in part on other grounds*, *State v. Shove*, 113 Wn.2d 83, 776 P.2d 132 (1989), the Supreme Court discussed its understanding that the Legislature intended the SRA's exceptional sentence provision to authorize trial courts to tailor an offender's sentence to the facts of the case and thus authorized trial courts to impose exceptional sentences including exceptional community supervision conditions. *Bernhard*, 108 Wn.2d at 538-40. Therefore, once the trial court finds grounds for an exceptional sentence it is not limited to a particular

length of time for community supervision and it is not limited in imposing conditions that qualify as crime-related prohibitions. *Id.* at 538, 540.

Indeed, the Supreme Court noted the Sentencing Guidelines Commission's statement on the SRA published in 1986 wherein it stated, "[t]here are no restrictions on conditions or length of community supervision for exceptional sentences." *Id.* at 540 (quoting Washington Sentencing Guidelines Comm'n, *Preliminary Evaluation of Washington State's Sentencing Reform Act*, at 33 (1986) (D. Fallen, Research Director)). And trial courts "must be permitted to tailor the sentence to the facts of each particular case." *Bernhard*, 108 Wn.2d at 541 (quoting *State v. Oxborrow*, 106 Wn.2d 525, 530, 723 P.2d 1123 (1986)). In *State v. Guerin*, 63 Wn.App. 117, 816 P.2d 1249 (1991), this Court extended the reasoning of *Bernhard* to exceptional sentences involving community placement.

By allowing trial courts to impose sentences outside the standard range of conditions allowed under standard community supervision sentences, the Legislature designed the SRA to allow for discretionary sentencing to accomplish the goals of sentencing, including punishment, rehabilitation, and protection of the public. *Bernhard*, 108 Wn.2d at 541. A no contact provision, as a crime-related condition of an offender's sentence, serves to protect the victim and thereby the public, thus

furthering one of our stated goals for sentencing. The above-discussed case law shows the Legislature intended to allow exceptional sentences to include exceptional conditions of an offender's sentence, being they exceptional in duration, condition or both. Here, the trial court imposed an exceptional sentence and indicated its intent that the no contact order be for the maximum time allowed. RP 28-29. As was discussed at sentencing, it is hard to imagine a case of child abuse so cruel, such as the systematic starvation of one's children, coupled with forced feeding of moldy, rotten food, and physical punishment for eating other food. The victims would rightfully want nothing to do with the Wellers for as long as humanly possible. The court reasonably found that no contact with the victims for as long as possible was a warranted sentencing condition. The no contact orders are part of the exceptional sentence terms set forth by the trial court in properly imposing an exceptional sentence. As Sandra Weller was convicted of four class B felonies and one class C felony, under an exceptional sentence, with each count running consecutive, the court's jurisdiction for sentence length was 45 years. This includes sentence conditions as discussed above. The trial court therefore properly imposed a 45 year no contact order between Sandra Weller and the victims of her crimes. For Jeffrey Weller, as he was convicted of additional crimes, the trial court's jurisdiction for sentence length was 60 years on the felony

convictions, and therefore a no contact order up to 60 years would have been authorized by law.

No case law that the State has found has directly addressed whether a no contact provision may be imposed for the entire length of a potential sentence in an exceptional sentence scenario. However, our Supreme Court has discussed the length of no contact orders in general terms, finding that the Legislative intent was to allow a no contact order “for a period not to exceed the *maximum allowable sentence* for the crime.” *State v. Armendariz*, 160 Wn.2d 106, 119, 156 P.3d 201 (2007) (quoting former RCW 9.94A.120(20)) (emphasis added). When the Legislature made significant amendments to the SRA in 2000, and former RCW 9.94A.120 was recodified as RCW 9.94A.505, the Legislature expressly stated its intent was not to effect any substantive changes. *Id.* The Supreme Court noted the Washington Sentencing Guidelines Comm’n, Adult Sentencing Manual I-42 stated that no contact orders may be imposed under RCW 9.94A.505(8) (now (9)) for “the maximum allowable sentence” for defendants’ crimes. *Id.* at 120. Though the Court in *Armendariz* went on to find that the SRA’s plain language, legislative history, and agency interpretation support the conclusion that the statutory maximum of a crime is the appropriate time limit for no-contact orders imposed, it did so without discussing the effect an exceptional sentence

would have on changing a defendant's "maximum allowable sentence" for multiple crimes. When the exceptional sentence provisions of the SRA are invoked, a defendant could be sentenced to the statutory maximum of each crime, consecutive to other crimes committed, thus extending his "maximum allowable sentence" past the statutory maximum for one particular conviction.

In *State v. France*, 176 Wn.App. 463, 308 P.3d 812 (2013), *rev. denied*, 179 Wn.2d 2015, 318 P.3d 280 (2014) the Court affirmed the imposition of a no contact order for longer than the base statutory maximum of the conviction where the court imposed an exceptional sentence. *France*, 176 Wn.App. at 474. In that case, the defendant pleaded guilty to nine counts of felony harassment, a class C felony with a statutory maximum of five years. *Id.* at 466; RCW 9A.46.020(b); RCW 9A.20.021(c). The court sentenced France to 60 months on each count, and ran three groups of three convictions concurrent to each other and consecutive to each other group of three, resulting in a 15 year exceptional sentence. *Id.* at 467. The trial court also imposed an order prohibiting France from having contact with the victims for 15 years. *Id.* The court affirmed the imposition of a 15 year no contact order as part of the exceptional sentence, even though the statutory maximum for each crime was 5 years. *Id.* As in *France*, the trial court in the Wellers' cases was not

confined to the statutory maximum of one count for imposition of the no contact order.

The trial court's imposition of a no contact prohibition was initially derived from RCW 9.94A.505(9) as a crime-related prohibition. The court's authority was furthered by the jury's finding of an aggravating factor, thus authorizing an exceptional sentence under RCW 9.94A.535. Exceptional sentences remedy a situation wherein the standard penalty for an offense is insufficient given a statutory aggravating factor found by a jury. *State v. Stubbs*, 170 Wn.2d 117, 124-25, 240 P.3d 143 (2010); RCW 9.94A.535. Here, a standard no contact prohibition was insufficient to protect the victims and prohibit future harm. The jury found the Wellers were deliberately cruel in the commission of their crimes against the victims. This statutory aggravating factor, authorized under RCW 9.94A.535(3)(a), gave the trial court a sufficient factual basis to impose an exceptional sentence. As discussed above, an exceptional sentence can include prohibitions that are exceptional in duration or type. Therefore, the trial court acted within its judicial authority and proper discretion to impose an exceptional prohibition on the Wellers of no contact with the victims for the maximum period the exceptional sentence allowed, which for Sandra Weller is up to 45 years and for Jeffrey Weller is up to 60 years.

At a minimum, the law is clear the trial court had the authority to impose no contact as a crime-related prohibition for the period of time of the length of incarceration and community custody. *See France, supra*. The Court's holding in *France* approves a trial court imposing no contact as a crime-related sentencing condition for the full length of incarceration. Further, while a defendant is under community custody, the trial court may impose conditions that must be complied with, including refraining from having contact with the victims of the crimes. RCW 9.94A.703(3)(b). Thus, if this Court finds the exceptional sentence provisions do not allow the trial court to impose no contact with victims as a sentencing condition for the maximum allowable sentence, then the no contact orders with the victims are permissible for 21.5 years—the term of confinement plus the term of community custody.

IV. The Trial Court Properly Denied Sandra Weller's Request for New Counsel.

Sandra Weller claims that the trial court erred in not providing her with a different lawyer when she expressed dislike of her current lawyer. Sandra's claim lacks merit.

At sentencing, defense counsel, Mr. Barrar, advised the trial court that Sandra wished to ask for a new lawyer. The trial court allowed Sandra to provide her reasons for wanting a new lawyer. RP 3-6. Sandra stated

that she felt that Mr. Barrar had yelled at her and was providing “ineffective assistance of counsel.” *Id.*

This Court reviews a trial court’s decision to deny a motion for substitution of counsel for abuse of discretion. *State v. Varga*, 151 Wn.2d 179, 200, 86 P.3d 139 (2004). The trial court abuses its discretion if its decision is manifestly unreasonable or based on untenable reasons or grounds. *State v. Stenson*, 132 Wn.2d 668, 701, 940 P.2d 1239 (1997) (Stenson I). A defendant does not have a Sixth Amendment right to counsel of his choice where his counsel is appointed at public expense. *State v. Schaller*, 143 Wn.App. 258, 267, 177 P.3d 1139 (2007); *State v. DeWeese*, 117 Wn.2d 369, 375-76, 816 P.2d 1 (1991); *Wheat v. United States*, 486 U.S. 153, 159, n.3, 108 S.Ct. 1692 (1988). A defendant “must show good cause to warrant substitution of counsel, such as conflict of interest, an irreconcilable conflict, or a complete breakdown in communication between the attorney and the defendant.” *Schaller* at 268; *Stenson I*, 132 Wn.2d at 734 (citing *Smith v. Lockhart*, 923 F.2d 1314, 1320 (8th Cir. 1991). Substitution of counsel is not justified due solely to a “general loss of confidence or trust” in appointed counsel, *Stenson I*, 132 Wn.2d at 734, nor is “general dissatisfaction and distrust” in counsel enough. *Varga*, 151 Wn.2d at 200-01.

Upon reviewing whether the trial court erred, this Court reviews (1) the extent of the conflict; (2) the adequacy of the trial court's inquiry; and (3) the timeliness of the motion. *United States v. Moore*, 159 F.3d 1154, 1158-59 (9th Cir. 1998); accord *In re Personal Restraint of Stenson*, 142 Wn.2d 710, 724, 16 P.3d 1 (2001) (*Stenson II*). This test is somewhat different than the test previously employed in Washington, which evaluated (1) the reasons given for the dissatisfaction with counsel; (2) the court's own evaluation of counsel; and (3) the effect of any substitution upon the scheduled proceedings. *Stenson II*, 142 Wn.2d at 723. The Court in *Stenson II* noted that Ninth's Circuit's test for irreconcilable conflict "covers some of the same ground as our test for substitution of counsel."² *Stenson II*, 142 Wn.2d at 724. The most obvious difference is that under the Ninth Circuit's test, the reviewing court must look at the adequacy of the court's inquiry. Under both tests, the reviewing court will look at the quality of the representation the defendant actually received:

In examining the extent of the conflict, this court considers the extent and nature of the breakdown in the relationship and its effect on the representation actually presented. If the representation is inadequate, prejudice is presumed. If the representation is adequate, prejudice must be shown. Because the purpose of providing assistance of counsel is to ensure that defendants receive a fair trial, the appropriate inquiry necessarily must focus on the adversarial process,

² The Court's opinion in *Stenson II* suggests that the Ninth Circuit's test supersedes Washington's test, but later cases have continued to refer to both tests. In this case, none of the factors in either test warrant relief.

not only on the defendant's relationship with his lawyer as such. "[T]he essential aim of the [Sixth] Amendment is to guarantee an effective advocate for each criminal defendant rather than to ensure that a defendant will inexorably be represented by the lawyer whom he prefers."

Schaller, supra, at 270, quoting *Wheat v. United States*, 486 U.S. at 159.

Sandra Weller brought this motion for substitution of counsel on the day of sentencing. The motion was not timely, as there is no reason Sandra could not have alerted the trial court to this issue before the date set for resentencing. Because Judge Johnson had retired as a superior court judge, she returned specially to hear this matter. The motion was not timely brought. RP 5. She claimed that the day before the sentencing, Barrar indicated he would not represent her. RP 5. But Mr. Barrar refuted these claims, noting he had reviewed the decision of the Court of Appeals and the relevant portions of the record and evidence, had done legal research, and had met with Sandra either in person or over the phone several times in preparation for the hearing. RP 3-4.

Turning to extent of the conflict, there was no conflict. Sandra simply didn't like Jeff Barrar, an attorney with twenty-seven years of experience in criminal law. She accused Barrar of making unkind statements to her and using a shouting tone of voice, accusations Barrar denied. The trial court, when faced with these competing accounts, determined that Barrar's account was the credible account. But even if the

trial court credited the claims made by Sandra, she failed to show a complete breakdown in the attorney-client relationship. Sandra simply wanted a lawyer she would have preferred and liked better. As noted in *Stenson*, a defendant is not entitled to a meaningful relationship with her attorney; she is not entitled to a certain rapport with her attorney. *Stenson*, supra, at 725-26, citing *Morris v. Slappy*, 461 U.S. 1, 3-4, 103 S.Ct. 1610, 75 L.Ed. 2d 610 (1983), *Wheat v. United States*, 486 U.S. 153, 159, 108 S.Ct. 1692, 100 L.Ed. 2d 140 (1988), and *Frazer v. United States*, 18 F.3d 778, 783 (9th Cir. 1994) . The focus of the inquiry is on the adversarial process rather than the quality of the relationship. *Id.* “[G]eneral discomfort with [counsel’s] representation” is insufficient to warrant substitution of counsel. *State v. Staten*, 60 Wn.App. 163, 169, 802 P.2d 1384 (1991), quoting *State v. Sinclair*, 46 Wn.App. 433, 436, 730 P.2d 742 (1986). Sandra did not establish a total breakdown in the attorney-client relationship, nor did Mr. Barrar provide support for her claim. The trial court correctly found that the nature of the conflict was purely one of person preference, not an actual breakdown in the attorney-client relationship.

Finally, the trial court’s inquiry was adequate. Although Sandra focuses on the prosecutor’s invitation to the court to conduct further inquiry, further inquiry was not necessary where the trial court gave

Sandra a full opportunity to make her case. The trial court also examined Mr. Barrar for his side of the story. After hearing Mr. Barrar's refutation of Sandra's claims, the trial court invited Sandra to make a further record if she could. RP 6. Sandra declined to do so. *Id.* The record was adequate for the trial court to determine there had not been a total breakdown in communication.

V. This Court Should Decline to Consider Appellate Costs Prior to the State's Submission of a Cost Bill.

The Wellers argue under *State v. Sinclair*, 72102-0-I, 2016 WL 393719 (Wash. Ct. App. Jan. 27, 2016), that this Court should not impose any appellate costs if the State substantially prevails on this appeal as they are indigent.

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